BROOMFIELD
An Early History
1864 - 1955
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The George Henry Church house, located about 104th Avenue and old

Wadsworth Boulevard as it looked in 1867. Standing in the doorway are Mrs.

Church and son Frank.
(Photo courtesy Marcus F. Church)
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"Let's see, Broomfield, that is a verv recent suburb,"
said the librarv assistant in resovonse to mv reauest for in-
formation on the historv of that communitv. Even material
from the Broomfield Chamber of Commerce says "Broomfield
began in the late 50's as a developer's dream and incornora—/,ﬁ
ted as a citv in 1961."1 I susnect that many neonle, if ?%/
asked, would sav that Broomfield began in the 1950's as a .
citv built around the toll booth on the Denver-Boulder 2
Turnnike. In fact, Broomfield's roots as a farming commu-
nitv go back to the 1860's., And before that, the area was
inhabited bv indigenous neovle.

For several centuries before the arrival of the white
man the area that includes what is today Broomfield, was
inhabited by several Indian tribes. The Utes were in

possession of most of the land but there were also Cheyennes
2

and Aranahoes. To the west of Broomfield about four nmiles, :ff

and in several locations to the ¥Yorth of the city, circular
rinqgs of stones are evidence of Arapahoe villages. The '

Aravahoes used stones set in a circle to form foundationi/cV»?'

unon which to build their tipis.3 -€70h1§49~§c BT R
G. Henrv Church and his wife, Sarah, came to Colorado
in an ox-drawn wagon as thousands of others had, in search
of cold. Like many others, they too were unsuccessful, but
decided to stav and make their home here.4 30 in 1854, thev
hecane the.first nermanent, white settlers in the area that
would become Broomfield. Thev bought a '"squatters claim"
where todav the railroad tracks cross over 0ld 'Yadsworth
Blvd. at 104th Avenue. On this site Henrv Church built a
stage station for the Overland Stage route to Sacramento,
California via Chevenne, ".-Jvoming,.5 The twelve room house the
Churches built nrovided lodeing for the stage passenger's
first night out of Denver. Sarah Church used to love to tell
the story of their nine week trip to Colorado from Indevend-
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ence, Iowa. The highlight of that trip was when a band of
Indians offered to buy Sarah for nine ponies and $100! Among
the guests that soent the night at the Church's stage stop
in the soring of 1863 was President of the United States,
Ullvses S. Grant and his daushter Nellie.-— Sow: (¢
In June of 1868 the Yells Fargo Comvany, that had bought
the Overland Stage from Ben Halladay the orevious year, dis-
continued the '"Churches Crossing" stage route. The stage
ston continued to be used, however, bv oxteam drivers, "bull
whackers", who were hauling hay to the mountains.6
With the changes in his stage stop, Henry Church shifted
his attention to farming. He acquired more land and began
cattle ranching and wheat farming. He secured water rights
from Clear Creek and built irrigation ditches to his ranch.
The Church ditch, built in 1877, still existﬁﬂgggﬁy;whﬁp built
two storage reservoirs, the first in Colorado. These reser-
voirs are now known as Church Upper Lake, near the Jefferson
Countv Airport, and Church Lower Lake which lies beside O01ld
Wadsworth Blvd at “est 106th Avenue and can be seen from
Us 36.7
Hlenrv's vounger brother John had also come to Colorado, :
and the two brought the first Hereford cattle to Colorado in o &9 7"
. . 3 ) 1,+ﬁﬂ-~"’{ oy
1859 and planted the first wheat in the state.®” — dou £t
Large land areas of the west had been given to the fail- JERTEEAE
roads by the United States government to encourage develovment -
and settlement by the white man. The land where Broomfield . (4.&. "

@AV —w hiris
is today, was given to the i Pacific Railroad. (This area
is mostly within Range 59 ‘est, Townshio 1 South, Section 35.)
In 1835, Adolpnh J. Zang and two partners bought this as well
as much adjacent land from the railroad.9 They started with

1195 acres.lO Ten years later, in 1895, zan bought out his
Tecma

vartners and also acquired 1200 additional #Acres which heraifan £ JL
(oG megnt ™ Lhe Jo¥yes

bought for $7 an acre. “ cpw vy waes T
Adjacent to Zang's oroverty was a little unincorporated'§¢_x:;:
11 Be°

community which had grown uvp around the railroad station.
This first community was actually located approximately one
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mile east and a quarter mile north of the existing "old"
Broomfield. It was served by the Denver, Utah and Pacific

Railroad narrow gauge branch line that ran from Denver to

g 12 N
Erie and Lvyons, -

background

1988 wview of the
site of the first
{ Broomfield DUZP 1R

Denot

Broomfield Community Center

The train hauled coal from Erie and flagstone of Lyons to

Denver.13

The train stop was near a lake where the trains
could take on water for the engines. This is where, oOn

Seotember 25, 1884, the first Post Office serving the area




was establisnhed. According to E. J. Jones, Broomfield

Postmaster in 1935:

"when the officials wanted a name for the
station and telegrapn office, they came

out to pive it a name, one of the officials
noticed a small field of broom corn growing
near by, and suggested the name "RAroom-—
field" f 7 the new station, and Broomfield
it was."

3roomfield's first nostmaster was a woman., Her name was

liss Dreuella Coulson and she held the job for two years, from

September 25, 1384 to July 9, 1886, Following her as nost-
master, from July 10, 1886 to July 23, 1889, was Lewls E.
Craine.l5 Interestingly, in the 1883 Colorado State Business
Directory, the first vear in which there is an entry for
Broomfield, the are two listings. One is for a blacksmith,
and the other is "L. E., Craine, physician." The povoulation
is shown as 100.16

The narrow gauge route was replaced with a Union Pacific
Railroad standard gauge line in the location which is seen
today. This area became known as "Zang's Spur,' a name it
kent for several Vears.l7 when the Post Office was moved o

the area of the new station in 1889, the Zang's Sopur station
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was renamed Broomfield,
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In between the first Broomfield Post Office site and
the Zanag's Sour site there was another of the original parcels
of farmland sold by the railroad, Daniel ilitze, who came to
the United States from Germanvy in 1377, purchased 160 acres
to farm in 18%5.19

Then, as now, the little farming community was svlit
between Boulder and Jefferson Counties. (As Broomfield grew
in later vears, it also annexed land east into Adams Countyq
Children went to one of two one room schools, depending upon
the countv in which they lived., Those residing in Boulder
County went to Broomfield School, which was located at the
present day intersection of 10th and Main Streets. The
Jefferson County students attended the Dry Creek Valley
School, later known as the Lorraine School. This school,
built in 1882, was at a site that today is 112th and Pierce

Streets.go
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Picture taken approx. 1895-96. Sche —Pr AJ. Miller, Teacher.
Methodist Church services held here. Located a mile south of 207 on Main
Street. -
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Broomfield's first church was founded/n 1888 by a dozen
Or so residents. The church was Methodist, it's first nastor
was Reverend R. H. Rhodes, and services were held in the
little one room Lorraine School. sepvices continued in the
school until after 1900. From then until the new church,
Yarren Chanel, was comoleted in 1908, church services and
Sundav School were held in a orivate home. It wasn't until
the 1950's that other denominations built churches in Broom-
field.21

The 1889 Colorado State Business Directory has only one
listing for Broomfield, "Graves, E. 0., grocer." But like
Dr. Craine, Edward Graves had two jobs, because he also was
the Broomfield Postmaster. Post Office records show he
served in that capacity from July 24, 1889 to ilay 22, 1894.22

It was in 1894 that the Post Office installed its first
lock boxes. They had glass fronts so the postal patrons
could see their mail, and the charge was 10¢ for three months!
A milestone in the development of the Broomfield Post Office
came in 1898 when the issuance of postal money orders was
authorized.23

The Crescent Grange, which was organized in 1898, was
larpgelv resnonsible for getting Rural Delivery Service in
spoomfield. In 1899 a committee of 'grangers" circulated @Af’
netitions and convinced the Post Office Department in
“iashinaton D. C. that groomfield needed rural free deliverv
mail routes. The order from the Washington office, in 1900,
read:

"You are hereby authorized to establish
RFD from vour office to commence on
August 15, 1900, with two carriers, at

a salary of 3500 per annum each,
including horse hire. William P. Burgess
and Charles TF. 1lcCormick have been :
apnointed carriers."

According to a letter found in the Post Office files,
each of the routes was a full days work for a horse. Route 1
was 25 miles long, had 130 houses with a ponulation of 650
veoole. Route 2 was 23 miles long, had 110 houses and 550

residents. Most of the area served by these early routes
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was farm land. Three excentions were the idonarch, Highway,
and Lilyv coal mines, These mining camps were complete
communities, with schools, grocery stores and residences.
The mine residents would meet the rural carrier at the grocery
store to »nick uo their mail and conduct other postal busi-
25 {).4’" .',; -
LR &t adT
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In 1893, the COlOPigg,S%ate Business Directory showed
Broomfield's nonulation“had dropved to 50 from the 100 shown

in 1889, "nile I found no specific reference or exnlanation

ness.,

for this decrease, it is nrobably safe to assume that it

was a result of the devression which was devastating the
country at the time. Despite the reduced nopulation, the
listing still showed a grocer and a blacksmith, and a new
listing for ilr. Robert YWright, '"creamery and cheese factory."26

For the next seventeen years, from 1893 until 1910, the
population of Broomfield stayed at 50 according to the
Directories.

tlary Yiriaght became one of Broomfield's first women
entrenreneurs in 1894 as "proprietor, cheese factory and
creamery."27 Aovvarently iMrs. Wright lost her husband but
continued to run the Caledonia Cheese Factory until 1910, when
the listing in the Directory shows that she ran a boarding
house.28 In 1900 ljary Wright also became the first Broomfield
agent for the Colorado Telephone Company, a nosition she held
until 1910.

Broomfield seems to have been a good vlace for working
women in those earlv vears, The Colorado Televhone Comnany
had become The {Mountain States Teleohon and Telegraph Company
and the local manager was Mrs. F. i, Brandt.29

In 1894 Broomfield's first "feed and graﬁm mill was open-
ed. :Ir. E. 0. Zraves, Postmaster, was also the oroorietor
of the mill.30 Prior to the establishment of mills in
Broomfield, farmers hauled their grain to the Hungarian ilills
in Denver by horse drawn wagons. One of the early Broomfield
pioneers, Viola Crooks, moved here in 1895 when she was four
vears old. She remembers the trips to the Denver mills this way:



"The folks left in the morning in the dark,
to go to the mills, and it was dark when
they'd get home after a long, cold ride.

We were so glad when they finally built

a grain mill in Broomfield whgfe thev
bought our wheat and barley."

Mrs., Crooks was onrobably referring to the first Hungarian
Flour 11111, which was constructed in Broomfield in 1916.32
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1916 - Fred Harrison, first operator, and Jack Taylor supervised construction
of Hungarian Flour Ml

(Photo by Ray McKee of Englewood)
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The business district of Broomfield continued to grow c o Akcef
up around the standard gauce railroad. Jones Hall %as  °
built sometime prior to 1901 and was remodeled in 1908,

The second floor was occuried by the Crescent Grange and
also was used for community meetings. The first floor
housed a seneral store, comvplete with a not bellied stove
surrounded by wooden chairs. The Post Office had moved to
the Jones Building in 1901 and shared the first floor with
the seneral store. IExcepnt for three vears in the 1940's
when the Post O0ffice was temporarily moved to other quarters,
it was in the Jones Building for a total of forty vears.
From the first delivery of mail to the area, until 1951, the

mail came to Broomfield by train.33

_"; ‘..'-g-‘ ’) p"‘ ?
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01d Post Office — Jones' Hall, 1906. Leftto right, 0 P. Smith,-
" Postal Route Carrier; E. J. Jones. Postmas(er and W. P. |
" Burgess, Rrural Carrier. - il S b 1
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The first five years of the 1900's saw the addition of
Several aviarists, a notary oublic, a horse trainer, a civil

enqgineer who doubled as the justice of the peace, and a

grain buver who was also the area's undertaker!34

The little farmineg community was growing into a
rin-roaring town as one early pioneer remembers:

"Gambling davs in Broomfield? About 1906
where the grange is now, someone ‘came in
and started a gambling house and saloon,
someone else burned it un. Then they

tried a tent, on Vednesday night someone
burned it uo. Then they had the bright
idea of trving it in Jefferson County

but the Wednesday night fires continued,
until the idea was eventually abandoned. 35
But for a while, it was a 'Little Las Vegas',"

Then to too that off, the town had its first western-
movie-style robbery on November 22, 1909. Thieves broke into
the Post Office, blew open the safe and escaped with $680.
Thev stole a horse and buggy from A. M. Nissen, who owned the
Feed i1ill and Elevator as well as a stable, and were able to
make a fast getawav! They were never apprehended and none of

36 . .
the monev was ever recovered, The Denver Times reported it

this wavy:
"Safeblowers entered the postoffice at
Broomfield, 15 miles north of Denver,
sometime between midnight and daylight
this morning and after shattering the
door of the stronag box with nitroglvcerin
decamned in a stolen horse and buggy with
3500 in cash, about 3100 worth of stamns,
a boxful of checls and securities and a
valuable collection of old coins belonging
to J. Jones, vostmaster.

The robbers stole a horse and buggv belong-
ing to A.,i, Uissen and made their escape.
The horse and buggv were found this

morning near the Globe Smelter."37

(u Jt-‘i"‘ %/ ‘:; u@;’
The éhicago-amd Southern R&t&rﬁad built a new train depot

in 1909, It served as Broomfield's train station until 1975,
when Bhe Burlington Nothern Railroad, who by now operated

S
the L&ﬁe—to—areemﬁgetd“ donated it to the city. It was moved
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to a site just west of Highway 287 on 10th Street in 1976,
and became the Broomfield Depot Museum., Post Office records
datine back to 1884, on long term loan from the Federal
sovernment are on display with hundreds of other items of n
historical value to Broomfield. The iluseum was founded and W
is maintained by the Broomfieid Historical Society.38 ok
3v 1910 the opovnulation was shown in the Directory as 85,
and Broomfield was described as "a growing town on the C&5 RR,
15 miles from Denver." There were a whopping 23 listings in
the Directorv.gg_ And in 1912 Broomfield got its first
40

. &
eleetriclty, P
First electricity to Broomfield - 1912

(Photo by Ray hckes of Englowood)
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" Laiand's Rental In Broomfield wap once the Red end Whits Grocery in Origh. |
nal Broomfleld. . . s & na !
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During the early 1920's, Broomfield was a lively
communitv., It consisted of a pool hall, Grange Hall, barber
shon, orocerv store, notel with a general store, flour mill
and a cheese factorv. In addition, there was a bank,
lumber vard, filline stations, two carages and the denot.
‘earby there was 2 beet dump and a vpickle factory! DBesides

the business district Broomfield had about a dozen homes.41
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/nile the communityfﬁéé arowins up around the railroad
station, to the westjﬁéolnh J. Zang was developing his farm.
malled "Tlmwood Stoclt Farm", it grew to approximately 4000
scr2s,. Zang acquired early water rights to bring water to
the farm fTor irriecation. To store the water he built Zang's
Reservoir, starting in 1903 and comnleting the dam in 1911.
"7ith this water he irrigated 2000 acres of the farm. The
other 2000 acres were in dry land farms tended Dy tenant

farmers., Thev orew wheat, oats, barley, beetls and corn.
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Today the reservoir, called the Great Western Reservoir, and
some of the same water rights, provide a large part of the
city's water suonly. The reservoir and the Jefferson County

Airport are on the part of the land that Zang develooed for

the drv land farming.42

The irrisated land was the home section of Zang's
proverty and is the site of present day Broomfield. A once
lovely lake is the site of today's Safeway store. The barn
and Zang's residence were in the vicinity of 5th Ave. and
Popoy Way, and the main entrance to the farm was on 10th.
The lovelv white house stands today on the top of the hill
on Poony way.43

Much of the Zang property was in orchards. He was
particularly interested in growing different varieties of
trees, and planted fruit trees, nut trees and all different
kinds of berries.

Mr. Zang was a lover of nature and one related interest
was the raising and breeding of pure blooded horses. He
exhibited his nrize winning, French imnorted Percherons

widely in stock shows throughout the United States and in

= 4
France. 4

An article in7The Denver Eg§ﬁ said, "Prize winning horses
he had bought in France were used to pull Zang Brewery YWaqons
around the 3600 acre farm."45

The first sale of the Zang orized Percherons was held on
Anril A, 1920 at his Elmwood Stock Farm. The advertisements
read: "Zang's Elmwood Stock Farm, 1st sale of Purebred
Percheron !ares and Stallions, Colorado's Oldest and Larocest
Breeders of Purebred Percherons."'6

Zang's Farm remained in the family until 1947 when it
was sold to :r. L.A. Biddle of Holvoke. 1t was sold azain
several times. It was finally sold to the Turnpike Land

Company, the developers of modern Broomfield.

-14-
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OFFERED FOR SALE
Y. S
$150,000

. Previews Incorporated has made echr'cﬁc';n to
provide accurate information, but offering is - ...
subject to ‘errors. and omissions, as well as S
change, sale.or withdrawal without notice of ) '
_ approval of purchaser by owner. © .’ .
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By 1922 Broomfield s vopulation had reached 80. Two
vears later it grew to 120. The community now had added an
auto suonly business, a firm selling farm implements, an
insurance companv, a shoe maker and a lunchroom., The pobn-
ulation increased to 150 by 1930 and several filling stations
and a greenhouse were built.47

In 1935, the first hints of the boom that was to
transform the little community began with the construction
of the Boulder-Denver Turnpike,U.S. 36, The Turnoike was
onened in 1952.48 The toll booth was located at the
interchange of Higgyay 287 and the Turnpike - right at
Broomfields front, and is credited with starting Broomfield
on its way to new growth. 49

In 1955 the Turnpike Land Company was formed by Bal Swan,
President of Empire Savings; K. C. Ensor, President of K. C. \AQ« /2
Ensor Construction Company; Aksel Nielsen, President of e
Title Guaranty comvany; Roger Knight, President of the v\{xe.
Denver-US Yational Bank; and John Sullivan of Bosworth and
sullivan. These five men wanted to build a model city.

Their plan was for it to be self sufficient and not a "bed-
roon" conmunity for Denver. They purchased the land from
the Adolph Zang Brewery interests and started building a

comnunity which was nationally recognized for its careful

olanning.
3roomfield became an incornorated city in 1961, with
[ o
a monulation of annroximately 5000 neople. 51 Todav that

ficure has grown to over 27,000 and is exvpected to double
b the vear 2005.

Nesnite its zrowth, Broomfield has maintained the
theart" of its small, close knit community roots. A storv
of one of Broomfield's well-known and beloved residents is
testimony to this.

One day shortly after the turnpike ovpened, & little
black and white dog apveared at the toll booth, and then
wandered away again. The next day he was back and the toll

nooth attendants oetted and made over him and he stayed
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around, The men began bringing him special treats and before
long he became a permanent resident of the toll booth area,
and a welcome comnanion for the attendants. One of his
favorite resting places was on the concrete buffers of the
booth from where he could greet each car, Since he aoneared
to be oart sheoherd, he became "Shen". 3o0on the motorists
became fond of him and dronped off food and toys, or asked
to have their change g0 into a fund for the little toll
booth guardian. I was a daily traveller on the turnpike

in the early 1960's, and like hundreds of others grew very
attached to the friendly, smiling dog I saw most days as I
stopped at the toll booth. Shep maintained his vigil for
all of his 1life, and spent his years in contentedly patrolling
the area he had adopted. Only in the worst of blizzards
would he come inside to sleen. He died in 1964 and was
buried on the hill overlooking the toll booth. When the
toll booth was removed and the access roads built, the
Broomfield citizens insisted that his burial vlace remain
untouched. One story that circulated at the time was that
the highway plans were changed so that Shep could rest
undisturbed. One of the hichway workers parked a trailer

in front of the grave so that it could not be accidently
damaged. A Boulder firm donated a vlaque to mark his grave,
and later a headstone was added. An unknown ironworker made
a fence to nrotect Shep's monument. Today, if vou look off
to the 1left of the exit rampo to southbound US 38, you'll

see the headstone which savs:

SHEP e
1950-19564 Pt
PART SHEPHERD
MOSTLY
ATFECTION 7
AR 509
TR
The grev granite mark says simply, "SHEP, Our Pal".
Broomfield citizens, twenty five years later, still nut fresh

52
flowers on Shen's grave.
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NOTES

1Broomfield Area Chamber of Commerce, Community Guide
(no date), o. 5.

2Laura L. Spitler and Lou Walther, Gem of the iountain
Vallev, A Historv of Broomfield (Boulder, 1975), o, 1.

3Snitler‘, n. 33.

4Broomfield Star, It Ain't Like it Usta Be August 18,1972,

°Denver Post, October 17, 1950, p. 44 col. 1.

6Spitler, D. 15, Original personal interview notes which
were used to gather information for the book are in the
clioning files of the Broomfield Historical Society.

A7Laura Spitler, untitled article, with credit given to
Arvada Historical Soclety, Waters of Gold; Arvada 1850-1870,
no date is given, pn. 23-24,

®penver Post, October 17, 1960, p. 44, col. 1.

9Snitler, nD. 3. The same information was found in an
untitled article, signed only VJD in the clipping file of
the Mamie Doud Eisenhower Public Library,

10Denver Post, Aobril 17, 1963, Zone 3, ». 20.

Yspitler, o. 3.

Y250itler, p. 44.

13Crawford, iilles, Broomfield, Colorado Postmasters,
undated. The article was in the clioping file of the uamie
Doud Zisenhower Public Library. It was obviously only the
first nage of a2 longer article but I was unable to locate
any of the remaining pages.

14This nuote is from a letter dated Januarv 17, 1935 from
. J. Jones, Broomfield Postmaster, to the Colorado State
Historical Societv. It was in response to a letter from
Julia Stokes from the Societv, dated Januarv 14, 1935
requesting information for a special study of Place Mames
in Colorado. Both letters are on file at the Colorado
Historical Society.

150rawford, D. 1.

16Colorado State Business Directory, 1888, n. 512.

17Snit1er, . 45,
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8There ia a discrepancy in dates for the move of the
Post Office and the changing of the name from Zang's Spur
to Broomfield, Laura Spitler and Lou Yalther, n. 76, show
the move in 1894, but on »n, 3, according to an interview
with ’Ir. Zang's daughter, idinnie, the date would have been
1395, The article siocned onlv VJD, cited in note 9, shows
1339, and the Crawford letter, note 14, says, "The Post
Office was then moved to Zang's Spur about 1886."

19Soitler, D. 25,

20, . ~ .

Snitlet, o. 51. Reference was also found in another

untitled, unsigned article, », 3, found in the clioning file
of the ilamie Doud Eisenhower Public Library.

2lspitier, o. 21.

220rawford, p. 1.

23Spitler, o. 76. Two other sources were Crawford, »n. 1.
and an untitled article by Lou Walther dated July 30, 1975,
from the clipping file of the Colorado Historical Society,

24Spitler, p. 42.

25Spitler, p., 76, On ., 73 Spitler and “Walther list
nineteen mines in the area of Broomfield. The ilonarch iiine
was along Hishway #36, on the right, about two miles out of
Broomfield., The Highway iline was near Johnson's Corner,
at Highway #287 and Dillon Road. There was no location given
for the Lily iline. The authors also note that there were
seven stills oroducing in the area during prohibition. They
added: '"We have been asked to forget their locations."

26Colorado State Business Directory, 1893, vo. 134,

27Colorado State Business Directorv, 1894, ». 158,

28Colorado State Business Directorv, 1910, »n. 195.

29Colorado State Business Directory, 1915, ». 184,

3OColorado State Business Directory, 1824, o, 138,

3lSDit1er, . 5,
32Spitler, n., 37.

333pitier, bo. 76-77.



34Colorado State Business Directories, 1900, b, 163.

1901, p. 167,
1902, o. 180,
1903, p. 175,
1904, p. 180,
1905, n. 184,

35gnitler, p. 19.

3°Soit1er, n. 76. Information about A. . Nissen was
found in Colorado State Business Directory, 1910, p. 195,

375pitler, p. 65.

o
38poulder Camera, Broomfield Bicentennial Projects,
October 25, 1975, 0. 10.

39Colorado State Business Directory, 1910, p. 195.

4O5nitler, p. 37.
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